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any such assignments do not apply to retired players, as their player contracts are, by
definition, no longer in force.
53. By commercializing the names, images, and likenesses of its players, both active
and retired, the NFL has become one of the largest entertainment conglomerates on the
planet, raking in an estimated $6.9 billion in 2008 alone.
54. The NFL did not begin earning billions of dollars in revenue overnight. It began
earning revenue gradually over many years with the support and sacrifice of the players
who played the game. Those now-retired NFL players, as a group, suffer severe physical
maladies and disabilities as a result of the sacrifices they made to make the NFL what it
is today. Many retired players played before the era of multi-million dollar contracts or
played only a few seasons and are struggling financially while the League they helped
build reaps record breaking revenue. There is thus an overwhelming interest in
compensating these players for the commercial use of their names, images and likenesses
by the NFL.
55. By their present Complaint, Plaintiffs and members the Class seek nothing more
than to obtain their fair share of the revenues the NFL has earned, and will earn, by its
use of retired players’ identities. Plaintiffs therefore bring this action to provide long-
awaited resolution for the players that made and continue to make professional football
the most popular sport in America.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
56.  Plaintiffs reallege all previous paragraphs as if fully stated herein.
57.  Plaintiffs bring this class action on behalf of themselves and all others similarly

situated, for all claims alleged herein, pursuant to all applicable provisions of Rule 23(a),
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23(b)(2) and 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
58. The Proposed Class which Plaintiffs seek to represent is composed of:
All persons who played professional football for any NFL. member team,
who are retired or no longer active, and whose name, voice, image,
likeness, or other indicia of identity has been used by the NFL to promote
the NFL or any of its member teams, sell products or services, or
otherwise to increase the brand awareness or obtain revenue for the NFL
or any of its member teams.
59.  Alternatively, should it be found that any of Plaintiffs’ state law claims could not
be certified on a national basis, Plaintiffs seek statewide subclasses (or groups of
statewide subclasses) for these same persons.
60.  Plaintiffs specifically exclude from the Class the NFL and any related entities, all
subsidiaries or affiliates of the NFL; any entity in which the NFL has a controlling
interest, and any and all of the NFL’s employees, affiliates, legal representatives, heirs,
SUCCEeSSOrs Or assignees.
61.  Plaintiffs also specifically exclude from the Class the Judge and Magistrate
assigned to this case and any member of their immediate families.
62. As shown below, this class action satisfies all requirements under Rule 23(a) and
(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, including but not limited to the elements
commonly referred to as numerosity, commonality, typicality, adequacy and superiority.
a. Numerosity. Consistent with Rule 23(a)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, the proposed Class “is so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable.” On information and belief, based on information obtained from news

reports in the public media and investigation of counsel, the number of members of the

proposed Class is believed to exceed 10,000.
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b. Commonality. Consistent with Rule 23(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, the proposed Class shares “common questions of law or fact.” Defendant
has engaged in a common course of misconduct toward Plaintiffs and members of the
proposed Class, including but not limited to using Plaintiffs’ names, images, and
likenesses to promote the NFL commercially and to sell NFL-related products. This
common course of misconduct, resultant injury to Plaintiffs and the members of the
Class and the remedies available to all such persons demonstrate the propriety of class
certification.

c. Typicality. Consistent with Rule 23(a)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, the claims of the proposed Class Representatives, “are typical of the claims

.. of the class.” Plaintiffs and all members of the proposed Class who have had their
identities used by the NFL for commercial or promotional purposes have suffered
damages as a result of the NFL’s wrongful acts and misconduct. The Named Plaintiffs’
factual and legal claims arise out of the same uniform misconduct perpetrated by
Defendant in a similar manner against both Plaintiffs and members of the Class. Thus,
the evidence and legal theories underlying Plaintiffs’ claims are identical to those
underlying the claims of all members of the putative Class.

d. Adequacy. Consistent with Rule 23(a)(4) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, Plaintiffs “will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.”
Plaintiffs have no adverse or conflicting interests to the proposed Class members.
Plaintiffs have retained Bob Stein LLC and the law firm of Zimmerman Reed, P.L.L.P,
who are competent counsel experienced in complex, class action litigation and possess

the necessary financial resources to adequately and vigorously litigate this class action.
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63. Predominance. Consistent with Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, common questions of law and fact predominate over individual issues.
Common questions include but are not limited to the following:

e Did the NFL use Plaintiffs’ identities?

e Did the NFL use Plaintiffs’ names, images, or likeness for its advantage or
economic gain?

e Did the NFL have Plaintiffs’ consent to use Plaintiffs’ names, images, or
likenesses for commercial gain?

e Are Plaintiffs and the Class entitled to relief for false endorsement under
§ 43(a)(1)(A) of the Lanham Act?

e Are Plaintiffs and the Class entitled to relief under Minnesota laws protecting
right of publicity?

e Are Plaintiffs and the Class entitled to relief under California statutory right of
publicity laws?

e Are Plaintiffs and the Class entitled to relief under California common law
protecting right of publicity?

e Are Plaintiffs and the Class entitled to relief under Texas common law
protecting the right of publicity?

e Are Plaintiffs and the Class entitled to relief under Arizona common law
protecting the right of publicity?

o Are Plaintiffs and the Class entitled to relief under other state common and
statutory law protecting the right of publicity?

e Are Plaintiffs’ claims barred in whole or in part by any of Defendant’s
affirmative defenses?

e Did Plaintiffs suffer damage as a result of the NFL’s use of their names,
images, and likenesses?

64. Superiority. Consistent with Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, a class action is a superior method of resolving this action. The prosecution

of separate actions by individual Class members would create the risk of inconsistent or
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varying adjudications with respect to individual Class members, which would establish
incompatible standards of conduct for the party opposing the Class and would lead to
repetitious trials of the numerous common questions of law and fact. Plaintiffs know of
no difficulty of any kind that would make a class action in this case unmanageable.
65. The Class also satisfies the requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) because, as
set forth herein, Defendant has acted and/or refused to act on grounds that apply
generally to Plaintiffs and members of the Class, thereby warranting appropriate
injunctive and/or declaratory relief respecting the Class as a whole.
66.  Proper and sufficient notice of this action may be provided to the Class members
through actual notice to former NFL players tracked by the NFL, among other methods.
67.  Plaintiffs and members of the Class have suffered harm and damages as a result of
Defendant’s wrongful conduct as alleged herein. Absent representative action, Plaintiffs
and the members of the Class will continue to suffer losses thereby allowing Defendant’s
violation of law to proceed without remedy, and allowing Defendant to retain the
proceeds of its ill-gotten gains.
CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(False Endorsement, § 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125)

68.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
69. § 43(a)(1)(A) of the Lanham Act states:

(1) Any person who, on or in connection with any goods or services, or

any container for goods, uses in commerce any word, term, name, symbol,

or device, or any combination thereof. .., which-

(A)  is likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive as to
the affiliation, connection, or association of such person with another
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person, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of his or her goods,
services, or commercial activities by another person. ..

shall be liable in a civil action by any person who believes that he or she is
or is likely to be damaged by such act.

70.  Defendant NFL uses the actual names of retired NFL players on its NFL website
to promote the league, and on its NFL Films website catalog, among other places, to
identify and solicit sales of its NFL products.

71. Defendant NFL also uses the names, images, and likenesses of thousands of
retired NFL players in its NFL Films productions, among other places, for the explicit
purpose of promoting the NFL, increasing its brand awareness, and driving revenue to the
NFL through product sales and consumer favor of the NFL over competing entertainment
options.

72. The NFL uses the actual names of retired NFL Players in connection with product
descriptions and does so for the purpose of advertising and selling specific NFL Films
video and other products. The NFL also uses the names, images, and likenesses of
Plaintiffs and members of the Class in connection with promoting the NFL as a specific,
consumable entertainment product.

73. The names of the individual retired players the NFL uses to describe, advertise,
and sell its products are highly recognizable to persons deciding whether to purchase
Defendant’s products. Otherwise, the NFL would not select the individual players it does
when promoting itself and its products.

74. The identities of the retired players the NFL features in its promotional NFL
Films and other products are recognizable. The names, images, and likenesses of all

professional athletes are highly recognizable because of the popularity of professional
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sports. Pro players also wear uniforms, numbers, and name plates, making them readily
recognizable to consumers. Further, because NFL Films is a promotional enterprise, the
NFL chooses athletes from the most recognizable situations in football’s past to promote
and endorse the league.

75. The NFL’s motivation in producing NFL Films and featuring the names, images,
and likenesses of retired NFL players is purely economic. The motivation is to sell NFL
products, increase the NFL’s brand power by trading on its past, and drive consumers to
spend money on the NFL and its member teams instead of other entertainment options.
76.  NFL Films, and other products and uses featuring the names, images, and
likenesses of retired NFL football players, are not simply news or historical pieces. They
are promotional pieces intended to portray the NFL, as an entertainment option, in the
most positive light possible. At no point in any NFL Film does anyone criticize the NFL,
as they would if it were a standard news or historical piece.

77.  NFL Films may not be standard 30-second television advertisements, but they are
intended to, designed to, and do serve the same promotional purpose. Similar to
“infomercials”, NFL Films are intended to focus consumers on the drama and intrigue of
the NFL as a consumable entertainment product. Plaintiffs and members of the Class are
the uncompensated stars of these promotional films.

78.  Plaintiffs and members of the Class have legally protectable trademarks in their
names, images, and likenesses. Plaintiffs and members of the Class own these
trademarks outright. Any assignment of such rights made, for example, in their standard

player contracts, expired with the expiration of such contracts.
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79. The NFL’s use of the names, images and likenesses of Plaintiffs and members of
the Class in its promotional NFL Films productions and other products is likely to create
confusion concerning Plaintiffs’ sponsorship or approval of those goods or services.
Needless to say, Plaintiffs do not sponsor or approve of the goods and services for which
the NFL is using their names, images and likenesses without authorization.
80. The NFL’s use of the names, images and likenesses of Plaintiffs and members of
the Class in its promotional NFL Films productions and other products creates actual
confusion concerning Plaintiffs’ sponsorship or approval of those goods or services. This
confusion is eminently provable through survey and other evidence to be adduced at trial.
81.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendant’s misconduct, Plaintiffs and
members of the Class have suffered injury.
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Appropriation of Right of Publicity, Minnesota Common Law)
82.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
83. The NFL has made use and continues to make use of the identities of Plaintifts
and members of the Class, including but not limited to their names, images, and
likenesses, to promote the NFL and otherwise obtain revenue.
84. As a direct and proximate result of the NFL’s improper, unauthorized use of their
publicity rights, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have suffered injury.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of Right of Publicity, California Civil Code § 3344)

85.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
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86. The NFL has knowingly and intentionally used and continues to use the identities
of Plaintiffs and members of the Class, including but not limited to their names, images,
and likenesses, to advertise for and promote the NFL and to solicit purchases and sell
products with revenue benefiting the NFL and its member organizations.
87. The NFL has done so without the consent of Plaintiffs and members of the Class.
88. As a direct and proximate result of the NFL’s misappropriation of their publicity
rights, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been injured in an amount to be proven
at trial.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of Right of Publicity, California Common Law)
89.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
90. Pursuant to the conduct described herein, the NFL has utilized and continues to
utilize the identities of Plaintiffs and members of the Class, including but not limited to
their names, images, and likenesses, without their consent and for the NFL’s own
advantage, commercial and otherwise.
91. As a direct and proximate result of the NFL’s misappropriation of their publicity
rights, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been injured.
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Misappropriation of Right of Publicity, Texas Common Law)
92.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
93.  The NFL has appropriated the identities of Plaintiffs and members of the class, for

the value associated with them and for the NFL’s own advantage and benefit.
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94.  Plaintiffs and members of the Class are readily identifiable in all uses by the NFL
because they are portrayed by name, image, uniform, number, and other indicia.
95. As a direct and proximate result of the NFL’s misappropriation of their publicity
rights, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been injured.
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of Rights of Publicity, Arizona Common Law)
96.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
97. Pursuant to the conduct described herein, the NFL has utilized and continues to
utilize the names, images, and likenesses of Plaintiffs and members of the Class without
their consent and for the NFL’s own advantage, commercial and otherwise.
98.  Asaresult of the NFL’s misappropriation of their publicity rights, Plaintiffs and
members of the Class have been injured.
SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of State Right of Publicity Statutory and Common Laws)
99.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
100. Plaintiffs have been, and continue to be, injured in all fifty states as a result of the
NFL’s misappropriation of their rights by use of the Internet, television and by other
means.
101.  In addition to claims under the statutory and common laws of the states in which
they reside, Plaintiffs also assert claims under the statutes and common laws of all other
states where their rights, and the rights of members of the Class, were violated.
102. Defendant has violated Arizona common law protecting the right of publicity.

103. Defendant has violated Alabama common law protecting the right of publicity.
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104. Defendant has violated Connecticut common law protecting the right of publicity.
105. Defendant has violated Florida Stat. § 540.08.

106. Defendant has violated Florida common law protecting the right of publicity.
107. Defendant has violated Georgia common law protecting the right of publicity.
108. Defendant has violated Hawaii common law protecting the right of publicity.
109. Defendant has violated Illinois Rev. Stat. ch. 765 § 1075.1 ef seq.

110. Defendant has violated Illinois common law protecting the right of publicity.
111. Defendant has violated Indiana Code § 32-26.

112.  Defendant has violated Kentucky Rev. Stat. §391.170.

113. Defendant has violated Kentucky common law protecting the right of publicity.
114. Defendant has violated Massachusetts Gen. Laws Ann. Ch. 214, § 3A.

115. Defendant has violated Michigan common law protecting the right of publicity.
116. Defendant has violated Missouri common law protecting the right of publicity.
117. Defendant has violated Nebraska Rev. Stat. § 20-202.

118. Defendant has violated New Jersey common law protecting the right of publicity.
119. Defendant has violated New York Civil Rights Law § 51.

120. Defendant has violated Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 2741.01 ef seq.

121.  Defendant has violated Ohio common law protecting the right of publicity.

122. Defendant has violated Oklahoma Stat. tit. 12, § 1448, 1449,

123.  Defendant has violated Pennsylvania Cons. Stat. tit. 42 § 8316.

124, Defendant has violated Pennsylvania common law protecting the right of
publicity.

125. Defendant has violated Rhode Island Gen. Laws § 9-1-28, 9-1-28.1(a)(2).
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126. Defendant has violated Tennessee Code Ann. § 47-25-1102 ef seq.
127. Defendant has violated Texas Property Code § 26.011.
128. Defendant has violated Utah Code Ann. § 45-3-1 et seq.
129. Defendant has violated Utah common law protecting the right of publicity.
130. Defendant has violated Virginia Code § 8.01-40.
131. Defendant has violated Washington Rev. Code § 63.60.010 ef seq.
132.  Defendant has violated Wisconsin Stat. § 995.50(2)(b).
133. Defendant has violated Wisconsin common law protecting the right of publicity.
134.  As a direct and proximate result of the NFL’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs and
members of the Class have been injured in each of these states.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Unjust Enrichment)

135.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
136. Defendant has been unjustly enriched by obtaining money through unlawful
means and at the expense of Plaintiffs.
137.  Under common law principles of unjust enrichment, Defendant should not be
permitted to retain the benefits conferred by such ill-gotten income.
138.  Plaintiffs seek disgorgement of all of monies Defendant has obtained or derived
from the unauthorized use of Plaintiffs’ identities for promotional or commercial

purposes.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly

situated, pray for relief against Defendant as follows:
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1. Certify a plaintiff Class as defined herein;

2. Appoint Plaintiffs John Frederick Dryer, James Lawrence Marshall,
Joseph Michael Senser, Elvin Lamont Bethea, Dante Anthony Pastorini,
Edward Alvin White, and Toby Lin Wright as Class Representatives;

3. Appoint Plaintiffs’ counsel Zimmerman Reed, P.L.L.P. and Bob Stein
LLC as Lead Class counsel;

4. Award Plaintiffs all damages allowed by law;

5. Award Plaintiffs equitable and injunctive relief as allowed by law;

6. Grant Plaintiffs declaratory relief as allowed by law;

7. Award Plaintiffs costs and attorneys’ fees against Defendant as allowed by
law;

8. Grant such other or further relief as allowed by law and as the Court

deems appropriate.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury.

Dated: October 14, 2009
By s/Robert A. Stein
BOB STEIN LLC
Robert A. Stein MN 104930
10125 Crosstown Circle, #200
Eden Prairie, MN 55344
Telephone: (952) 829-1043
Facsimile: (952) 829-1040
Email: rastein66@aol.com

Charles S. Zimmerman MN 120054
J. Gordon Rudd, Jr. MN 222082
Brian C. Gudmundson MN 336695
ZIMMERMAN REED, P.L.L.P.
651 Nicollet Mall, Suite 501
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Telephone: 612.341.0400
Facsimile: 612.341.0844
Email ] oI
Email
Email: !
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Thomas J. Ward

Daniel S. Ward

WARD & WARD, P.L.L.C.
2020 N Street, N.'W.
Washington D.C., 20036
Telephone: (202) 331-8160
Facsimile: (202) 331-9069
Email:
Email:

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS AND
THE CLASS
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